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All the characters in this book are real
people. Scrupulous care has been taken
to introduce nothing of a fictional nature

PREFACE

To write this book has been of primary importance to me,
because it deals with the story of 2 momentous change in
the social structure of our country. It is intended to give a
simple statement of the facts; for the facts speak for themselves.
It traces through William’s life and work the origins and
development which resulted in the Beveridge Report.

The Report was the apotheosis of a long devotion of nearly
forty years to the fulfilment by one stage after another of the
principles to which he first gave a tentative expression in his
early leaders in the Morning Post written from his twenty-sixth
to his twenty-ninth year, and in his book Unemployment, a
Problem of Industry, published in 1909, when he was just under

Whether you like it or not, whether you are glad or sorry,
the Beveridge Report was the inauguration of a new relation
within the State of man to man, and of man to the State, not
only in this country but throughout the world. The ethic of
the universal brotherhood of man was here enshrined in a
plan to be carried out by every individual member of the
community on his own behalf and on behalf of his fellows.
The phrases William used, the imagery he invented, have passed
into the common speech of the people in every language, just
as the principles they illustrated have passed into their minds.

As I moved from one episode to another, and from one
chapter to the next, I have to admit that I found it harder and
harder to remain dispassionate in a mounting sense of
bewilderment.

But here it was William himself who came to my rescue as
on an eatlier occasion he had soothed his mother, as you will
see as you read the book.

JANET BEVERIDGE.
Osxford.
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CHAPTER 1

Origins

The bee is little among such as fly; but her fruit is the chief of
sweet things. ECCLESIASTICUS I1.3

WILLIAM’S birth and early years followed a pattern which
can never now be repeated. It is out of circulation, for
the mould is broken.

His father was a member of the Indian Civil Service, a
district and Sessions Judge. He had gone to India in 1857,
having gained the first place in the examination held by the
Civil Service Commissioners in that year. It was the third
under the new regulations established by Gladstone’s legisla-
tion for the reform of the Civil Service in India, which up to
1855 had been recruited through the East India Company.

Henry was thus a pioneer of that line of civil servants
chosen not by nepotism but on their academic merits, seeking
not wealth but to serve their country in the best interests of
India, who for neatly a hundred years won the laurels they
deserved. He was close enough to the tradition which the new
régime had been created to abolish to be well aware of how
necessary the reform had been. For him and his contemporaries,
William Hickey and his like were no heroes to immortalise.

He had astonished the examiners of the Civil Service Com-~
mission by his knowledge. The test to which he was subjected
is laughable now, it was so clearly designed not to discover
what the candidates knew which might serve them in their
career if successful, but consisted of haphazard facts or refer-
ences which it was far more than probable that none of them
could possibly have encountered in their academic pursuits
or in their personal reading. The examination was intended to

13
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select able men just graduated at the ancient Universities,
favouring on the whole the classical discipline. That a Scottish
youth from a small country house in Fife, who owed his Uni-
versity training to Belfast and Glasgow, should have been
the first on the list in 1857 was a surprise indeed. There was no
personality test in those days, still less a scrutiny during a
weekend in a country house by psychologists and others. I
have a shrewd suspicion that Henry might not have come out
on top of such experiments. Yet even in such a company his
transparent rectitude, his complete absence of wvanity, his
earnestness and above all the superlative quality of his intellect
might have penetrated through their machinations. If there
had been any women on the panel of inquisitors he would
have won easily. Tall, handsome, fair-haired and blue-eyed,
with a natural respect and even sentimental reverence for their
sex, he would have been at the head of their list too.

William’s mother, Annette Akroyd, came of Yorkshire
stock. Like Henry, she was in an intellectual class far- above
the ordinary and of a genre rare in a woman. Her father had
made money. Unlike Henry, who had to make his way, she
belonged to the fortunate class, now nearly extinct, where
easy circumstances enabled her to design her life without the
limiting considerations of having to gain a livelihood. She
pursued, for its own sake, the highest educational oppor-
tunities open to girls of her time, successfully passing such
examinations as were offered to women by the University of
London in the 1860’s.

Born in 1842, she was the youngest child of her father’s
first marriage and his great favourite. When he married a
second wife and provided her with a step-mother and two
half-sisters, things were perforce less happy for her in the big
house at Stourbridge. She can never have had an easy tempera-
ment; and no doubt the developing circumstances of the
second growing family had a considerable part in sending her
off to London to pass examinations. She was clearly a person

14
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of inexhaustible vitality and decided ambitions in which
marriage did not take the first place. She did not disdain the
conventional social life for a girl of her time. She went to
dances and attracted young men. It was not an unsuccessful
love affair that drove her to study Latin and Mathematics.
She just wanted irresistibly to do so, and did so very well.

The respective fathers of Henry and Annette were a study
in themselves. Henry Beveridge, the elder, was a scholar by
nature and a country gentleman by ambition. As the Squire
of Inzievar, a small but pleasant property in Fife bought in
the early days of his marriage with his wife Jemima’s dowry,
he was a failure to the extent of being sold up within a few
yeats and thrown upon his own talents for the resources required
to bring up his five children and maintain Jemima, now penni-
less. Their children were brought up among books, for which
fortunately she also had a passion. It would have been a
sombre enough upbringing but for her, for they saw almost
no society.

Jemima has left in her letters to her son Henry (William’s
father) in India a glowing picture of herself. She discloses a
fresh and vigorous mind and a passion for reading. Unlike
her husband, she had a lively sense of humour and a sharp,
discriminating pen and tongue. “After the name of bankrupt
became mine,” she confessed long after to her son, “I ceased
to cur]l my hair.” Her running commentary on the Beveridges
is passed on to her son, without any embarrassing sense of
restraint in candour. She loved the ins and outs of family
relationships and all their absurdities.
- William Akroyd was in every way a contrast. Beginning
from the bottom, he made a considerable fortune in business,
as a leading figure in his town, to which he brought the
ailway, and had handsome presentations of silver made to
him in recognition of the benefits he procured for it. He was

deed a bustling, public-spirited notability in local affairs,
with the most laudable views as understood in his days. He
I5
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was a Liberal in politics and a Unitarian in rehglonCi Sf his
first wife, Annette’s mother, nothing has bec:ri1 recor te:he. "
In Annette’s background it was her father who w::t%[ he oot
standing personality, in Henry's it was his mother.H ewaS
effect of the family fortunes and environment on ec:lnrgr res
to send him to a career which he could com;nan. \ azrnm
scholarship and by W ich he could be sure 0 dmaﬁer ; Wrg1
himself, the effect on Annette Was to turn her mind to
i ial service. .
edﬁaﬁeﬁéstissgi life, when she was twenty-eight ye;rs
old, she came under the spell of an Indian, Keshub Chunder

Sen, who had come to England as the leader ina new religious

ovement to purify Hinduism and to establish 2 monotheistic
m

i :tarianism brought her into the group

of worship. Her Unitarianism group

Z‘P:nthusiasts who packed the h;]lls Wﬁexzci:erzrg;i; a}?li limm

- ned speeches. It was not only reaglots & .

?:cslsifrtlﬁat S}I:e preached, but also the needf fordlmprovmgset]inf1
iti i 1. His rhetoric found a response

position of Indian wome shetoric foun i hearing

Anneite, e o e e <tiy deliberate consideration

him, and before long, sfter que ;arflr nds whom she trusted,
ndence with Iric
and earnest COIrespo was to be the educa-

i isi ia. Her mission
she decided to visit India. . .
tion and social clevation of her Indian sisters. The story

of her adventure, its trials and faﬂure;, and h:ﬁv Ii;eki;uffg
ther one-sided correspondence Wi :
]rlr?;;rg;:lmz:h ;im, is told by her son m another book, India

Called Them. Their marriage Was ahhas;ﬂydlimlz?ovis:g iﬁf;
d it forward, giving her hardly ume r
?vl?;yslgzvss:s about. It might have developed in any direc-

i i i disaster,
tion on lines leading 0 ¢ : °
another. Henry's motives In rushing Annette after five meet

f a young man
i i engagement were 1ot those o ; ma
gﬁjn; 21?. f:ve a% f%rst sight. But he found her s;rﬁgglirclﬁogi
ters in the management Of her
dezphiinizorin;i i‘:rlathe mood of a Galahad to the rescue of a
m .
16

for all they knew of one.

ORIGINS

lady harassed and distressed who needed and longed for a
rescuer and a haven. For Henry had been married before. On
his first furlough, in 1869, he had fallen in love with a Scottish
girl, Jeanie Goldie, when she was barely sixteen years of age
and still at school. When he set off in the January of 1870 to
return to India, Jeanie, now affianced to him, went back to

- school and won a prize for French. In the spring of 1871

Henry came home again for his bride. They were married in
the autumn when Jeanie was not yet eighteen and Henry
was thirty-five. He took her by way of a trip through the
continent of Europe to Barisal in the province of Bakarganj in
Bengal, where he records that it is a comfort that he has got a
good house. But Bakarganj was the very back of beyond. Its
isolation and notorious unhealthiness were such that no one
lived there if he could live anywhere else. It had been described
as the dustbin of Bengal. Before Jeanie set out with the husband
nearly twice her own age, whom she adored, to this unknown

. destination, it is unlikely that she had ever ventured further
- from home than once on a short visit to London with her

mother. The house of which Henry thought so well looks
gaunt and dismaying enough in the picture. How could it have
seemed to a girl brought up in a snug villa in Edinburgh in the
midst of an established group of friends, pursuing the amuse-
ments of her fellow schoolgirls and attended on by Scottish
maid-servants? Bakarganj had no such towns, no cosy coteries
of neighbours and no maid-servants. There must have been
times of bleak loneliness and homesickness for Jeanie. How did
she spend the days when Henry was away in court and she had
only her piano with occasional consignments of music from
Calcutta, four to seven days’ journey by water away, to pass the
time? What did she make of housekeeping with a little army of
Indian servants?

It was soon necessary for her to make preparations for her
confinement, and one can imagine her sitting long hours in
the silent rooms of her gaunt unhomelike house with her

B 17
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sewing-basket and her dreams, tired by the heat, waiting for
her husband to come home, and her boredom to yield to.the
radiant happiness of his presence. It is all in the imagination,
for there are no records to show what she thought and fetlt
during the year that was all she was to spend there. She died in
January 1873. Her child had died at birth a week or two before,
and she never rallied her strength to survive it. She was not
et twenty years of age.

Y Henryysyc{;spair anf:gl grief brought him to the very dePths
and he tried at first to get away from the place of such bitter
sorrows. But he had endeared himself to the people of Bakar-
ganj, as he endeared himself to the people everywhere in
India. They begged him not to leave them, and }}e staye.d.
“I thought,” he said, “that I had buried my heart with Jeanie,
and so I told Annette.” His scrupulous sense of truth bade him
to do so when he asked her to marry him. He proved himself
to have been wrong in the event, although to the end of his
long life, for he outlived Annette and reached the age of
ninety-three, he dwelt on the short companionship with Jeanie
as something far transcending in beauty and fragrance the
ordinary relationships of life. .

As for Annette herself, she hardly had time to think what
-her real feelings were. But what woman could have resisted
Henry’s charm? He may have brought her a broken heart, but
with it came such tenderness of spirit and a mind charged with
such unassuming richness as is seldom encountered. Their
relationship did, in fact, gradually ripen into passionate love.
To her great credit Annette never showed or felt any _]ealousy
for her husband’s first love, but entered into and understood his

memories, even going so far as to name her second daughter .

Jeanette, a kind of portmanteau rendering of Jeanie and
Annette, combining the names of the two wives. It is not
surprising that a marriage of two such rare characters should
have produced remarkable children. .
A fortnight after their marriage the couple sailed from
18 :
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Calcutta to spend the eighteen months of holiday in England
in visiting friends and relations. Annette now made the
-acquaintance of Henry’s mother and his sister Maggie, and
‘his rich cousins in Dunfermline and Edinburgh. The latter
were frankly startled to find in their new relation a lady of so
much determination and so many unusual talents and interests,
for her ways were very clearly a deviation from their normal.
They shook their heads together. Henry had indeed gone from
oneextreme to the other in his second marriage. Jeanic had been
barely eighteen years of age, little more than a schoolgirl and
a gentle, loving creature: Annette was thirty-two, with a full
experience of the higher education, and sharing the ambi-
tions of the more advanced women of her time, showing no
tendency to become a docile, clinging wife.

The pair ranged up and down over England and Scotland,
settling towards the end of their furlough in a house hired for
the time from Mirs. Belloc, the mother of Hilaire and Marie
Belloc-Lowndes, in College Street, Westminster. But all too
soon the journey back to India was upon them. As in his first
departure with Jeanie, Henry took Annette, five years later,
through Europe to join their ship, this time at Venice; and
there they embarked on September 28th for an unknown
destination in Bengal.

When they reached Calcutta at the end of October the
matter remained still undecided. And then they learned that
Rangpur was to be their fate. Here, twenty years after his
brilliant entry into the service, Henry had to take his second
_ wife. It was all too terribly like Bakarganj, that other dismal
wamp dominated by rivers and tropical pests where five
years before Jeanie, the Scottish girl, had passed her one home-
ick year of married life and where she lay with her baby in
er arms in the lonely churchyard.

Annette’s diary of the journey from Calcutta is recorded in
ndia Called Them. It took five days by road and boat, and
hen at last they reached Rangpur it was only to find that the

19
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“station” was away and that the circuit house was locked.
They took possession of a room in a colleague’s home. “It is
a terribly tumble-down place,” Annette writes in her diary,
“with a Mr. Kelly in occupation.” Mr. Kelly must have been
summarily dislodged, for the two began their life in it two
days later on December 1st, 1876. It was in this house, where
they lived for three years, that the reptiles, which were offi-
cially described as abundant, were apt to be encountered on
the stairs in the form of cobras, the cause of frequent fatalities
during inundations “when they sought refuge in the higher
lands”, and evidently also in the higher rooms of the house.

It was an extensive district for Henry to cover on horseback
or by carriage over bad roads or by boat when the floods often
made the passages exciting and dangerous, for there were no
railways when he began there. He had to be much away
from home, continuously taking exhausting journeys. Now
and then Annette went with him, ready as always to face
the hazards and discomforts, but more often she stayed at
home. They wrote letters to one another almost daily during
these separations and Annette kept a diary, a habit begun
long before and carried on through her life. Though the
first entry of the day was often “Not well”, she set herself
to learn how to use the tools of her new trade of running
an Indian household of many native servants, how to spend
the family income, and how to take Henry generally in hand,
while at the same time, under her heart, she was carrying
her first baby. These months of anticipation must have been
a testing time for both of them, with the thought which can-
not but have been in their minds of that other birth and its
tragic consequences five years before. But there is no word in
letters or in the diaries of any shadow of fear. Mrs. Toomey,
the monthly nurse from Calcutta, duly arrived after her five
days’ journey with a week to spare before Annette’s confine-

ment. And at last on the 1oth of July, amidst the cobras and

other perils, their first child, a girl, was born. They called her
20 '

The infant Beveridge,
December 1879

The boy Beveridge, 1884
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Laetitia Santamani, their joy and their jewel of peace. The
bitter grief in Henry’s memory was assuaged, if not expunged.
. Naturally a complete change came over their lives. A baby
could not be kept for long at a time in a dismal swamp, and
there began almost at once a life of journeys for Annette to
and from the hills which went on continuously for the
whole of the time during which her children were kept in
India. It was the story of the lives of all the married pairs of
English people in India at that time: the continual separations,
the weariness of the heat, the difficulty of ever feeling well,
the anxiety over the babies, of whom so many failed to over-
come the exigencies of a tropical infancy, filling the church-
yards with the myriads of little white stones remarked upon
in later years with horror by Annette.

At Rangpur in the spring of 1879 their second child, a boy,
William, was born, this time a day before Mrs. Toomey
arrived. For him began, at two months old, the history of
continued movement from one place to another which
with modifications has characterised the whole of his life.
On this first journey Henry took the caravanserai of Annette
and her two babies, Laetitia, not yet two years of age, and
William, only two months, with their nurses to Shillong.
It took from May 1st to May 11th, beginning with four days
in palki, or covered sedan chairs carried by bearers, covering
fifty miles in all. There followed a voyage by rivers and a
further journey by road in tongas and pompoms, both wheeled
conveyances. This hazardous and forbidding journey, under-
taken for the health of the children, very neatly ended in
complete disaster. Cholera proved to be rampant in the
station. Annette was taken ill with the disease. She lay uncon-~
scious and much nearer to death than to life for a fortnight,
~while Henry hardly ever left her room. She emerged triumph-
“antly, and when the turning-point was passed made a rapid
_recovery. She bad altogether phenomenal vitality and an
indomitable will, not only to live but to extract everything
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possible from life. On this occasion not only did she survive,
but within an incredibly short time was enjoying all the
gaieties of Shillong in full fling, sending for new dresses which
Henry dutifully selected and despatched to the scene of her
social triumphs. “Everything in the box (of fineries) has passed
2 Committee of Mrs. Boyd, Miss Dawson and Miss Elder, as
being more charming than the last,” she writes to hlm ‘g
stayed at the Fancy Dress Ball till 3 in the morning.” “I think,
she adds, “that I look the better for powder and rouge and
shall continue it.” When Henry proposed to send her some
volumes of Comte to occupy her leisure she told him to keep
them till she got back. She began the day when they left at
last for home with a final badminton match at eight o’clock
in the morning. .

Henry had left her after two months, and she had remained
with the children for four months more, recording the earliest
impression of William. “Don’t expect to see an intellectual-
looking son,” she warns Henry. ‘“Prepare yourself for a red
rough boy.” Indeed both his parents seem to have thought
very little of his mental qualities in those early days. For Henry,
Lactitia was the one with brains. “Letty,” he writes, “may hold
her own in an age of negations, but what will poor Bhaia
(William) do? He will float down the stream and perhaps go
over the cataracts unless some kind fairy plucks him aside.
1 have great faith in that. Hylas will always 'ﬁnd a ny‘r‘nph.'”
“Bhaia is jolly but somewhat stolid.” And still again, Bhaia
is Launce’s dog Tray for unimpressionability.”

They are scenes out of a vanished and almost forgotten
world. The hill station where a group of English men fmd
women, amply sustained in their life of leisure by unlimited
numbers of native Indian servants, trod their daily round of
small social engagements, free from the physical care of

children and all the routine work of a house. Such a life does

not enter into the experience of any British men and women

any more.
22

ORIGINS

The other side of the picture shows Henry and his life at
work in the plains, sitting up all night to write 10,000 words
of a judgment in the Courts, having previously sat for many
weary days listening to hundreds of lies and trying to sift out
the truth from among them. He had now been following this
routine for over twenty-two years. Three years more and his
work in India could be finished if he so desired.

The white man’s burden can no longer be conceived as
bringing enlightenment in terms of western civilisation to
differently nurtured races in India and elsewhere. The mission~
ary spirit, in all the nobility of its inspiration, has not often
taken account of ancient philosophies little, or not at all,
understood. Henry, long before his time, understood this
paradox.

Almost immediately after her return from cholera and
Shillong Annette was packing up for a move to the new station
of Bankipur, near Patna, now offered to Henry. At last they
were to be done with swamps. Bankipur was one of the most
desirable situations. For Henry and Annette the next year or
two saw the zenith of their happiness. The move to Pata
had soon been followed by the birth of their third child, ¢his
time a girl, eighteen months younger than their son. They
were radiantly in love and the nightmare ghost of Barisal,
though never laid, almost ceased to haunt Henry, now deeply
absorbed in Annette and their three children. Promotion to the-

High Court seemed to be within reach.

But in spite of the life in a healthier and livelier station the
daily entries in Annette’s diaries record the same history of
fevers, laborious journeys to the hills—sicknesses and separ-

- ations. At last the small white faces of the children in the heat,
"and the thought of the poignant history to be read on the

endless rows of little graves in the cemeteries, were compelling,
and the decision was taken. “The children must go home
or to the hills. I will not bear to look on their pallid faces

another season,” Henry writes to Annette in October 1882.
23




CHAPTER I

School and Before

A merry heart doeth good like a medicine.
Proverss 17.22

IT was now the spring of 1883, and Annette, with her small
army of domestic servants, was deep in preparation for the
great trek homeward. Henry had completed already twenty-
five years of service and was due for two years of furlough. He
had indeed earned his pension and might have retired to begin
a new life in England in his forty-sixth year. But India called
him, and although he went into the arguments with Annette,
for and against, he knew that the decision had never been in
doubt. He meant to obey the summons of his heart to go back.

The party for the voyage home consisted of the three
children, their German governess, their parents, and a young
Bengali, Kumad, consigned to Henry’s care. They joined
their ship at Calcutta in April, and reached Gravesend in May.’
Henry immediately went off to Scotland with his beloved
Letty, now six years old, to stay with his mother while he
sought a furnished house near by for his family. Annette with
the rest of the party stayed in London. For some time her deaf-
ness had been growing upon her and she began now a period
of treatment by a London doctor. The accounts to Henry of
the attempts to cure her are a sorry commentary on the
medical knowledge of her time. The real cause of the trouble
remained a mystery to the end of her life. It was only known
that she was not born deaf and from whatever cause only

began to be aware of a hardness of hearing after an illness from

scatlet fever in her twentieth year. She said in her old age that
24

SCHOOL AND BEFORE

she had never really heard, as more fortunate people hear, the
voices of her children. For Henry, it was his greatest pre-
occupation to make up to her for this affliction. His example
was part of the environment in which the children grew up and
was ingrained in William’s consciousness of the everyday
habits of the family.

From his earliest chlldhood he had watched his father de-
vising ways to bring Annette into full communication with the
world of affairs, and even more meticulously, with every
aspect of his life which would have been open to her if
she had been able to hear. It was part of the normal routine
followed, as soon as he was able, also by William himself.
For a time mechanical aids to hearing were tried out. A
kind of octopus on the dinner table could be used by the
party, each of whom was supplied with a tube to speak
through, the sound passing by way of a centralised container
and thence by another tube to her ear. For a conversation 4
deux, an ear-trumpet was the method. In both cases the results
led to such intricate misunderstandings that in the end it came
to writing everything down. It also led to William’s later
habit of writing a daily letter to her when he was at any
distance. She faithfully kept them all, so that there is until her
death his account of his own life in detail, and a running
commentary on public affairs.

Her own courage was dauntless, not only in facing the pain
and misery of early attempts made by an ignorant aurist who
held out to her, for a time, hopes of a cure, but, when these
hopes failed, in adapting her habits to conquer the disability
while accepting it. The difficulty of easy communication threw
the children much more on their own resources than is usual,
and led them to take to reading and other absorbing pursuits of
their own devising. They came in this way to be intellectually
more advanced than their contemporaries in age.

Earlier, his father is continually referring to the happiness
of his infant son. No one, he says, could be blamed for bring-
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ing such a cheerful little creature into the world; he is always
laughing and gay, but, he adds, will never set the Thames on
fire. His mother writes of him rolling about on the floor,
emitting cheerfulness.

From his earliest letters, starting at the age of four, the truth
of these observations is apparent. There is an optimistic accept-
ance of the variations of fortune which has lasted his life. They
give a picture of his laborious habit of recording an experience
to the last detail, without much if any comment and never with
any bitterness. One adventure over, he proceeded in childhood
as in the rest of his life cheerfully and wholeheartedly to the
next.

Henry and Letty found a house called Keavil near
Dunfermline, within easy reach of the Beveridge grand-
parents and also of the rich cousins at Pitreavie Castle and St.
Leonard’s Hill. Of course, it was too expensive, the thing you
want always is, but Henry took it with its lovely gardens and
numerous bedrooms for the period of 2 year.

Keavil contracted for, Annette speedily enlisted a tribe of
servants, and a new German governess, Friulein Végel, was
engaged, at an annual salary of £23. An open carriage and a
pony were purchased and the family settled down gloriously
to the habits of a temperate climate.

The year at Keavil, though always remembered with
rapturous happiness, had its trials too. In order to meet the
running expenses, Annette induced her sister, Fanny Mowatt,
to come with her children for a time as a paying partner. It
was a daring experiment. The Mowatt family lived a life less
concentrated on book-learning, and the two cousins, Ryder and
Osmond, contemporaries of the Beveridge children, were not
so far advanced when it came to lessons with the governess.
Annette and her sister Fanny did not see eye to eye about

anything, and inevitably disagreed whenever a common.

decision had to be taken. Henry, who liked his brother-in-law
James Mowatt, found conversation with him difficult,.
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He did not even like Fanny and avoided trying to converse
with her at all. Storms and sunshine succeeded one another,
and in the midst of them the two Mowatt cousins mysteriously
developed scatlet fever. They could not help it, of course, but
that did not alleviate Annette’s annoyance or anxiety and the
trouble caused by their isolation. When, after six months, the
experiment ended and the Mowatts went back home, Annette
writes in her diary: “We felt as if a cord that had held us too
tight had snapped.” That was not even then the end of the
trouble. The inevitable disputes arose and raged about who
was liable to pay for what.

As Keavil drew regretfully to an end, Henry decided to cut
his furlough short, and to leave Annette behind for a few
-months to settle the children in a school in England before
coming out to join him, for of course the inevitable separation
so cruelly necessary for English parents in India had to be
faced.

William was four years old when he was left with his
sisters, six and three, at a school in Southport for such stranded
babes, run by a Miss Lewin, who was chosen both as a family
friend and a Unitarian. Friulein Végel went into residence
with them.

In India William spoke English to his parents, Hindustani
to his bearer, and German to his governess. It is a solemn
thought. He had begun also his habit of continuous letters to
his parents. His first five letters were all written while the
children were waiting at Hughly to embark for England. Four
of the five letters were written in German; one only, to his
grannie, was in English.

With the departure of their mother, Willie and his sisters
fell into the routine about which their patient weekly letters to
India never deceived anyone for a moment. The three years of
Miss Lewin’s school which went slowly by yielded a very dim
experience indeed. A moderately bright relief came in the
holidays, when they went with the faithful Friulein Vigel to
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elderly childless friends of Annette’s. Friulein Vogel herself
was perhaps the best part of the whole thing. She cared for the
three small creatures with genuine affection, and found teach-
ing them to be a pure joy. Letty and Willie, on their side,
equally enjoyed their lessons, lapping up everything set before
them with incredible speed and thoroughness. They soon
became merely bilingual, forgetting Hindustani. The pathos of
their weekly letters is not that they complained about any-
thing. It is that they made the best of everything, and such
little things too. Willie’s exuded cheerfulness and much
natural enjoyment.

It was a heroic and mainly unconscious submission to un-
natural circumstances. Letty was the first to show signs of
rebellion, and even Willie’s bonhomie waned in spite of his
absorption in his lessons and alternative occupations.

When presently the three heard that they had acquired
another brother, born in India, they gave way unanimously
and clamorously to demands to see him and to join their
parents. It was not only from the children’s letters but also
from the governess’s that Annette and Henry became miserably
conscious of how strong their longing had become for the family
life again.

The unhappiness of separation was mutual. The parents began
to debate the possibility of making the unusual and indeed
hazardous experiment of bringing the exiles out to India.
Letty was now in her ninth year, reading for her pleasure
Dryden’s translation of Virgil, while Willie at seven preferred,
on the whole, arithmetic, finding particular pleasure and even
delighted excitement in the Least Common Multiple. They
were still laboriously recording the small excitements outside
of these absorbing pursuits in dutiful weekly letters, sometimes
in English and sometimes in German, faithfully guided by
Friulein Vogel in orientating their affection and interest
towards their parents as the centre of their lives. Out in India
the parents were well aware of all the facets of this many-sided
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situation. What was Henry to do if Annette joined the children
in England, taking the new baby with her? That was not to be
thought of. On the contrary, this entirely unpredictable
couple decided that Henry should look after the baby in India
while Annette came to England to reconnoitre the position
there on the spot. She found not only the children but Fréulein
Vogel refusing ever again to return to the Unitarian Miss
Lewin’s seminary in Southport. They were all quite firmly
agreed that wherever they went it must not be there. In spite
of the fact that it was considered undesirable for children of
their age to live in the tropics, it was practically a foregone
conclusion that it must be India, and India it was, with all the
contingent dangers.

The period at Southport had its good sides. Willie acquired
habits which lasted him a lifetime. He never for the rest of his
life found any difficulty, for instance, in settling down with
interest and enjoyment to the next job as it came along. Nature
provided him with a passion of intellectual curiosity and an
endless industriousness. The cheerfulness recorded by his
parents when he was an infant never deserted him, however
tough the treatment circumstances dealt out. One absorbing
task finished, he turned to the fresh one with the same abandon~
ment. Friulein Végel, a conscientious, industrious, thorough
German woman, found in the youthful Willie everything
such a teacher could desire. Her influence and his own person-
ality moulded his character at this time, the time in the develop-
ment of a child which is definitive.

After the reunion with their mother, the children did not
go back again to Miss Lewin. The party took up their quarters
in their step-grandmother’s house in Regent’s Park. But very
soon they were all on the move again. The excursions in and
around London to see the sights and to visit friends gave way
to a journey to Germany. Annette had become involved in an
arrangement for translating from German and in part revising
and completing the biography of the Emperor Akbar under-
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taken by the Count of Néer, who had died before he finished
it. She decided to go to Néer in Schleswig-Holstein to make
the acquaintance of the Countess, now a widow, who co-
operated by inviting the whole party to come to the castle.
Off they all went, Friulein V&gel too, by boat from London
to Hamburg. They were all horribly seasick, Friulein retiring
from the scene of action and leaving the others to render
mutual aid.

The Countess showed the party the warmest hospitality,
allotting them apartments in the castle where they remained
happily for a month while Annette pursued her work on the
translation of Akbar, aided by the Countess. Long after, when
William was in Germany in 1947, he went to Nder and there
renewed his friendship with one of the two daughters of the
house with whom he and his sisters had played on that early
visit. He found her with her husband living at the castle.
There followed a renewed correspondence until her death two
years later in 1949, for her memories of the Beveridge party
were as pleasant as William’s of N&er.

The month in Germany over, back to England they came
again to prepare for a journey, this time to India, due almost
at once. It was a very unusual and rash departure from the con-
ventional to take the children at their age for a prolonged
residence in India. But the children longed for their parents and
they for the children, and the adventure and its chances were
undertaken. Annette, of course, did not proceed by the easy
route of a direct passage from England on a comfortable
steamer. She took the three children and their governess, a new
one, English this time, by way of Lucerne, spending there a
couple of nights to show them its beauty. Thence the party
proceeded by the Gothard tunnel to Genoa, changing trains in
the middle of the night at Milan, to join a small Italian steamer
of the Rubattino Line, a choice made because of its cheapness.

The sight of Stromboli and Etna still lingers in William’s
mind, where also uncertain memories survive of the strange
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meals provided on the boat. It was not until long after that he
understood the fraud that was practised on him to keep him
quiet in the heat of the Suez Canal, by someone who set him
to fish over the side of the moving boat with a bent pin on a
string,

Annette’s tireless energy in carrying out unconventional
journeys under highly uncomfortable and exhausting condi-
tions left a lasting mark on William. To write a chapter of a
book ata railway junction never seemed to him out of the ordin-
ary, nor did his attention ever become distracted by the noise or
stir of trains at a busy station. The Beveridge Report itself was
written at odds and ends of time on odds and ends of available
paper, sometimes during air-raids in London and sometimes
on long-drawn-out train journeys, and sometimes in peace and
quiet. He owed this power of concentration on the matter in
hand to his mother’s travel arrangements in these early days
of his boyhood. Her courage and energy were the more
remarkable in that she was deaf. But undismayed by what to
many would have been so great a handicap as to create com-~
plete dependence on others, she led her string of little children
complacently across the continent of Europe, to Germany,
Switzerland and Italy, and through the eastern seas to Indla,
with enjoyment to herself at any rate.

From Bombay, where the party were landed from the
steamer, they took train for three days and three nights across
India to Calcutta. Here once more trains had to be changed
in the middle of the night. This time it was at Allahabad. It
was long before the days of large and rapid liners, or of trains
with modern lavatory equipment, air conditioning, sleeping-

-berths or electric lighting. The imagination boggles. There

must have been some provision on the train for washing,
beeause the pomegranates laid in at Bombay for the journey
were put into the wash-basin for preservation. It was also long
before any precautions were taken against contaminated water.
In spite of all the dangers, the party came safely at last to anchor
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in the house in Ballygunge Road in Calcutta where their
headquarters in India were at that time established, and where
Henry, William’s father, and Herman, his baby brother,
awaited them. William was now seven and a half years old.

There followed four years of family life spent between

Calcutta and Darjeeling. The English governess did not stay
very long, and in her place, to the delight of the children,
Friulein VSgel was brought out to join them again in India.
She shared Willie’s education with a number of masters
brought in from schools and elsewhere, and with his father,
who undertook his Latin and Greek. The works of Euclid
appear to have been assimilated at the age of eight. At seven
he had been introduced to the game of chess. As his father,
his only available opponent, was apt to be engaged in the law
courts for long periods of the day, he had recourse to the books
setting out the famous games of famous players, acquiring in
this way much lore about the subtleties of the game. He was
presented with a handsome set of chessmen by his mother on
his ninth birthday. About this time he wrote and illustrated
The Story of an Indian Coolie, a work carefully preserved by his
mother and still extant. When it is remembered that these
years were spent largely in the sweltering climate of Calcutta,
with respites in the hot season in Darjeeling, there is little that
is surprising in learning that a serious illness overtook him in
the autumn of 1889 in his eleventh year. It was never diagnosed
and lingered on for months, under experimental and fortuitous
treatment which happened not to fail. With vitality far
beyond the ordinary, he worried through. So concentrated

and fantastic a régime would have been too much for most

boys, even if the Indian heat had not also been added. He did in-
fact inherit from both parents great physical toughness. His
father lived to be ninety-three years of age and his mother to
be eighty-seven, both having endured some of the worst
climatic conditions to be found in India, in their various
stations in Bengal.
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The children entered into the social life of their contem-~
poraries to the full wherever they happened to be. There were
such festivities as the children’s fancy-dress party given at
Christmas by a neighbour at Darjeeling, for which they were
prepared by being taught to dance the hornpipe—Willie
wearing a black velvet suit to impersonate Puck, while his
sisters went as fairies.

" But the illness which fell upon their son decided his parents
that their plan-of keeping their young family in India must be
relinquished. It was not only Willie who had caused them
serious anxiety, but his young brother Herman too. He had
succumbed to some form of eastern fever which retarded his
speech, and plans had to be laid for the children and their
mother to leave India for good. They came home to England
in March 1890, leaving the head of the family to continue his
period of service until the retiring age.

The party landed at Plymouth and, once more on the move,
proceeded to a hotel at Dawlish, from which they passed to a
furnished house at Hlfracombe while the vital decision could
be taken for a permanent residence in a situation where the
education of the children could proceed at English schools.
Eastbourne was finally chosen, and Craigmount, a large
pleasant house in an ample garden, was leased.

It was furnished and servants were hired. One of the rooms
was just not large enough to take a billiard table, which was
duly installed, with shortened cues to allow of play at each end.
What it was for is obscure, for the head of the family, who
played the game but badly, was bound to be in India for the
next few years, and it is hard to imagine the three children
and their mother passing the evening in a game of snooker.

Here, in Fastbourne, at last Willie settled down to the
routine life of an English schoolboy at a preparatory school
called Kent House.

E. M. Forster, a contemporary, was among the pupils.
There was also the traditional bully, name now forgotten, who
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saw in the shy youngster with the unusual upbringing an easy
prey. It was quite a walk from Craigmount to Kent House,
and gave plenty of time for kicks and blows. But the bully
had not reckoned with his victim’s mother, who, learning at
last the reason for the dishevelled and discouraged condition in
which her son was wont to return, one day descended on the
home-coming party. She made it abundantly clear that she was
prepared at once to take the law into her own hands and to
administer summary and condign punishment, if necessary.
In this encounter, as in many others, the threat was enough.
Like all bullies, this one cringing fled, and Willie walked
thereafter in peace. Some boys might have been furiously
annoyed at her proceedings. But what Annette did was law,
and acquiescence was habitual, for the effort of writing to
make objections, which if spoken found a very deaf ear indeed,
was too formidable.

Life at Craigmount had scarcely begun when little Herman
died. His Indian fever was beyond the medical profession. The
same year, a beloved aunt was killed in a carriage accident in
her own avenue. Then the servants fell ill with typhoid fever,
and it was discovered that the drains were defective and had to
be dealt with de profundis. There seemed to be no end to the
disasters.

At the end of two years at Kent House, Willie won the
second place in the competition for the Entrance Scholarships
to Charterhouse and went there in September 1892, at the age
of thirteen and a half. The same year his father retired finally
after thirty-five years of active service in India. The family
was at last united in England as a permanency with high
hopes for the future of the three remaining children.

But once more it was plunged into grief and sorrow. Letty,
the first-born, and by all accounts the most promising of the
children, died suddenly from influenza in her sixteenth year.
For both parents it was a stunning blow. To Henry it must
have seemed as if the fates had marked him out. When tragedy
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brought to an end the one year of his first marriage, and his
wife and baby had died, he had buried with them in the little
grave a part of himself which bad died with them. It was with
a broken heart that he had offered himself two years later to
Annette, who knew the story of Barisal. When Annette’s first
baby came joyfully into the world with no hazard either to her
mother or herself, they called her Laetitia to mark their happi-
ness. She grew through childhood with no sign of anything
but normal health, and with every sign of more than common
ability and strength of character. To lose her at the time when
girlhood was passing into the new and winning phase of young
maidenhood, with all her promise seeming to yield its reward,
was hard indeed.

Willie came home from Charterhouse to a grief-stricken
family, himself dismayed with grief. Between him and Letty,
so near together in age and all their interests, there had been a
close companionship.

For a time they were all three inconsolable, and it seemed
that Annette could not drag herself out of the tragic vein.
Henry never ceased to mourn the loss of the first-born and by
him most beloved child. To the end of his life, even when his
son was bringing home his sheaves, he spoke of her promise as
far greater than his. It was to her son that Annette turned.
He became the centre of her interest and hopes, and he, on his
part, found in her the repository of his interests and hopes. The
bond that binds a son to his mother is universally understood
to have a special sanctity. But here, over and above this natural
tendency, William’s desire to make up to her for everything
and in particular for her deafness so that she might not be
excluded from anything that she could share with him, and
on her part her need to solace herself for the loss of her eldest
-and youngest children, gave the relationship an unusual
intensity and poignancy. Henry persuaded her to go on with
her oriental studies and to learn for this purpose, after fifty,
two new languages—Persian and Turki. He had taken the
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right line, for it became an absorbing interest for her during
all the rest of her long life, and brought her to an honoured
place among scholars in her field. From Persian she translated
first the account given by Gulbadan, daughter of Babur,
conqueror and first Mogul Emperor of India, of her brother
Humayun'’s luckless reign. In Turki Annette went on to Babur
himself and from newly found manuscripts made a fresh
translation of his famous autobiography. Henry stood in the
background of her work, bringing his own scholarship to her
support, helping her with the language and keeping her to the
right interpretation, making up to her at every turn for her
deafness, becoming indeed both her ears and often as well her
eyes. Their industry was tireless. In England, the Indian habit of
early rising with the dawn continued, and both would be well
on with their work on their books by the normal time for
the British breakfast. To their schoolboy son on his holidays
the whole procedure was accepted as the usual, and he who had
left India at eleven years formed this habit of his parents, in
later life rising to his work with the daylight.

During his five years at Charterhouse there was a con-
tinual flow of letters between himself and his mother. The
effect on William seems to have been to accentuate and
increase the isolation from his English-reared young com-
panions which his different experiences created, so that he
grew up within his devotion to his family group and to his
bookish pursuits, shrinking from the heartier and more
physically dominated adolescents at his school. He was easily
the best academic product of his year—first in the school both
in the field of mathematics and in classics, eventually becoming
automatically head of the school. But he did not shine at
football or at cricket, nor was he able to be hail-fellow-well-
met with all and sundry, and consequently found a con-
temporary appointed above his head as monitor of his house,
a selection of his housemaster which confirmed him in his
already formed low opinion of himself. No doubt it will be
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argued in favour of the housemaster that he conformed to the
pattern of his time in which the admiration of nearly all
masters and of all boys was reserved for the athletes. He was
universally known as Duck, in allusion to his gait. He was un-
married, and a man of means, putting more into his house than
he took out of it. The boys enjoyed a private lawn-tennis
court, a private cricket ground from which they sallied forth
to matches with the neighbouring villages, and many varied
outings: among other things a party of them was taken in a
private launch to see the Naval Review of 1897 and regaled
with unlimited pdté de fois sandwiches and champagne. The
company was far from intellectual.

In one of Willie’s first letters home he described the Duckites
as “the least dodgy house of the lot”, meaning the least clever
in the school. He showed his passion for statistical verification
even in those days by studying the school list. “We have only
ten fellows in the Upper School while Hodgsonites have
twenty-seven,” he reports.

The school curriculum was wholly classical, with a smatter-
ing of “stinks”, French and mathematics, except for a small
group—about fifty, being specially prepared for the Army.

Those who did well enough to reach the Upper Sixth had
another ancient language added and were taught Hebrew,
ploughing through Genesis with the Headmaster. On one
occasion Willie wrote out the whole of the 23rd book of the
Iliad (800 hexameters) as the standard penalty for the Duckites
if they missed morning chapel.

Here again, as at Eastbourne, he encountered the boy with a
passion for bullying. Long after, he accepted an invitation from
the bully to go to his house to meet his wife, for whom he felt
he was going to be very sorry. On the contrary, he found his
schooldays’ friend trembling at her nod; he was getting all
that he had given and more. It must have been a great assuage-
ment for sufferings at Charterhouse.

The only two masters in the school in revolt against athleti-
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cism (apart from the French and German ones, who, of course,
did not count) were T. E. Page of the VIth and Peona_rd
Huxley, with whom Willie used to play chess, angering him
once by beating him. Willie, typically, was not in j:evolt
against athleticism. He accepted the established régime Wlth?)t,lt
repining, as he had accepted the dull days at Miss Lewin’s
school, even finding something good to say about it. He played
all games to the best of his ability, being least bad at squash. He
was half-back in a winning team of a Football League Com-
petition for younger boys. In his last year he got as far as the
ouse XI.

HWriting to his mother from Oxford in his third year,
William says:

.. .1 should never look back to Charterhouse in the
orthodox manner as the happiest time of my life, but I do
fecl a deep debt of gratitude to the public school system in
general and the greater part of Charterhouse in Parucular.
Unfortunately as I did not play football and cricket on a
large scale I did not (among other things) get to know many
masters (the connection though obscure is real). so that
now there are really only very few people there with whom
I have more than a bowing acquaintance. That however
I can enjoy myself there I think I showed myself on my last
visit which I found very delightful indeed. And now my
dearest mother I must say that though I am afraid I am one
of the many people who really find themselves far more at
home in their college than in their school yet I am really
fond of Charterhouse as a school and of one or two in-
dividuals now there. . . .
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CHAPTER. I

Oxford

Open thy mouth, judge righteously, and plead the cause of
the poor and needy. PROVERBS 31.9

wiiam had become the object of his mother’s especial

V » pride and ambition. She threw herself into every aspect
of his life with the force and concentration of an unusually
strong and dominating personality. It is difficult, indeed
impossible, to say whether her ambition for him and her
intense interest in his affairs and the consequent relationship
to her made him the more or less solitary creature of his
schooldays which he remembers himself to have been. Fhat
he was living in an intellectual medium far more concentrated
and mature than is usual even in very gifted schoolboys is
quite certain. It is a hazardous position to be an only son with
a devoted and ambitious mother, and William did not in some
ways escape. There never was, in fact, any need for her to
spur him on. By nature he was the scholarly type.

The little family, now reduced from six to four members,
was soon to be on the move again. Craigmount held memories
too sad, and Eastbourne had no longer any raison d’étre as a
place of residence with William away at Charterhouse and
soon to be passing on to the University.

The neighbourhood of Hindhead was chosen because
Annette’s sister, Fanny Mowatt, and her husband and two
sons had a house there, where they lived in considerable style
far above what was possible for a retired Indian judge. Pitfold
was found, a happily placed little house looking south in the
middle of ten acres of land, some of it pasture and the rest
cultivated vegetable and flower gardens. There were even
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two vine-houses with fine grapes. The structure was simple,
the design being attributed to a local hairdresser. Henry and
Annette bought it at sight and very soon Eastbourne was in
the memory only and a sad one at that. Here they settled down
at last, within easy reach of their Mowatt relations.

Ryder, the elder of the two Mowatts, like his cousin
William, a few months his junior, was destined for the Uni-
versity. Fanny, his mother, discovered that there was an Akroyd
Scholarship reserved for Founder’s Kin, in practice for those
who could prove legitimate descent from the brother or
uncle of the sixteenth-century testator, William Akroyd, a
canon of York who died in 1518. She, like her sister Annette
being an Akroyd, immediately set out to prove that Ryder
had the required kinship. It took time and money and
persistence to establish the claim through the long line of
descent from the fifteenth-century Constable of Wadsworth
and uncle of the Founder and, of course, a number of snags
turned up. Fanny, however, having started the hare, had
no idea of giving up the pursuit. Undaunted, she gave her
time and her money to the matter and set herself to unravel
all the kinks in the genealogy. It was found that in 1763 Mary,
a daughter of Jonathan Akroyd of Lane Head, Ovenden, had
married John Bates at Halifax. In the same year 1763 a son
James was born to them and baptised at Halifax; by family
tradition he subsequently kept his birthday in March. The
question was whether James was born in wedlock? That was
the first problem, for descent of Founder’s Kin must be legiti-
mate. The second was that the name of James Bates, turning

up in the records mysteriously, later disappeared completely.

There appeared instead a James Bates Akroyd, of Birming-
ham, who was undoubtedly the grandfather of Fanny and
Annette. But was he also James the son of John and Mary
Bates? :
On the first point Fanny, not knowing the exact date in
1763 when James’ parents married, could not do more than
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affirm her confidence that “James Bates was born in wedlock”
even if born in March of the year of his parents’ wedding.
“There may”, she added to the enquiring solicitors of the
Foundation, “have been some previous informal marriage
ceremony, or it may be simply due to the difference between
the manners and customs of those days and ours.”

On the second point, Fanny herself produced essential
evidence in a bundle of family letters kept by her father,
running from 1806 to 1826 and proving beyond question the
identity of James Bates Akroyd with James Bates. He had
changed his name after a quarrel with his father.

Fanny felt—not unnaturally—that, having taken all the
trouble and met all the costs of the enquiry, if at last she should
establish a Founder’s kinship she had a first claim on the scholar-
ship for her son Ryder. Annette, of course, and equally
naturally, took a different view. There followed a bitter corre-
spondence in which Fanny gave Annette the cryptic warning:
“If you call John Bates’ baby Akroyd you ruin everything.”
To do so, of course, would mean giving the child his mother’s
name, as illegitimate, in place of his father’s. Fortunately,
Annete avoided the temptation to call John Bates’ baby any-
thing. All she said was that if Fanny’s Ryder was Founder’s
Kin so, of necessity, was his cousin Will. Later research
yielded the required marriage date; William’s great-great-
grandmother, Mary Akroyd, became Mary Bates in Halifax
Church on January 13th, 1763, two months before her son
was born, and legitimacy was established.

The two lads sat the examination together, with the other
claimant a young Etonian, with the result which Annette, of
course, had foreseen if Fanny had not, that Willilam won it
easily. The breach in the family relations was final. Fanny never
forgave William or Annette, although it mattered little to her
or to Ryder, who needed no scholarships to enable him to go
anywhere he liked, while William needed them very much.
A year or two later Ryder tried again, and this time, the only
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BEVERIDGE AND HIS PLAN

Founder’s kin in the competition, was awa